
Given below are the responses to queries raised in Pre-Bid meeting (held on 30th April 2019, at 11:00am at SBI Bhavan, Nariman Point, 

Mumbai) of RFP REFERENCE NO: PPR/RFP/1/2019: 
 

 

Sl. No Subject Clarification sought 
Response after incorporating 
suggestions from Law 

1 

Financial information  
 As a private company, we do 
not disclose our financial 
information and/or revenue 
details. However, we would be 
able to provide a certificate 
from the auditor as evidence to 
comply with the criteria laid out 
in the RFP.  
Accordingly,  
1) We shall provide a certificate 
from our statutory auditors that 
we meet the relevant eligibility 
criteria and technical scoring 
criteria  
2) In accordance, with the 
above suggestions on change 
of clause, while we will submit 
the income tax return certificate 
but would not be able to 
provide exact numbers for the 
returns.  

 

This is not accepted 
 
 

9.3 iv. Audited balance sheets and 
profit and loss account statement 

Annexure B: Eligibility Criteria  
Sr 3 Copy of the audited Balance 
Sheet and/or Certificate of the 
Chartered Accountant for preceding 
two years i.e. FY 2016-17 & 2017-
18 

2 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY  
 

 

 

 
15. Patent Right  
15.6 The Bank shall have absolute 
unqualified right title and ownership 

We believe we should retain Intellectual Property in all 
concepts, know-how, tools, frameworks, models, and 
industry perspectives developed or enhanced outside of or 

This is not accepted 
 



over all the deliverables, solutions 
and other products/services 
delivered by the consultant 
consequent to the completion of the 
project or among work done in 
accordance with the contract. 

in connection with the Consultancy. To define more precisely 
our respective intellectual property rights  
We request to add at the end of Clause 10.16: -  
“Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Consultant retains all 
right, title, and interest in and to the Consultant Tools (as 
defined below). To the extent that the deliverables include 
any Consultant Tools, the Consultant hereby grants to the 
Bank a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicenseable, 
worldwide, royalty-free, perpetual license to use and copy 
the Consultant Tools solely for internal purposes as part of 
the deliverables. The “Consultant Tools” consist of any and 
all concepts, analyses, know-how, tools, frameworks, 
models, and industry information and perspectives used by 
the Consultant in connection with services hereunder.”  
The modification to clause can be discussed 
with the selected bidder at the time of 
contract signing. 

 

 

15.4 The liability of the consultants 
to indemnify the Bank including 
those by / against third party claims 
as per this clause shall be unlimited 
and without any cap or condition.  
 

We would like to request to add the following after clause 
15.4 :  
“In no event shall the Consultant’s liability to the Bank in 
connection with the Services relating to an engagement for 
the Bank exceed the fees received by the Consultant from 
the Bank in connection with such engagement. Neither party 
will be liable for any lost profits or other indirect, 
consequential, incidental, punitive or special damages.”  
The modification to clause can be discussed with the 
selected bidder at the time of contract signing.  

This is not accepted 
 

 

15.4 - Patent rights – the liability 
sought in case of indemnification is 
“unlimited and without any cap or 
condition” 

We propose to make this limited to the contract value.  
 

This is not accepted 
 

3 Audit  

4 
18 Inspection, Quality Control and 
Audit  
 

Due to our confidentiality obligations to our other clients, and 
consistent with our policy against disclosure of Firm financial 
information, we do not generally permit clients or other third 

This is not accepted 
 



parties to audit/inspect our site, books and records except as 
required in law.  
We would request that Clause 10.2 to be worded with the 
following initial line:  
“The right to access, inspection and audit shall only be 
applicable, as required in law and in no other circumstances 
and shall be limited to the scope and terms of reference of 
the contracted engagement”  
The modification to clause can be discussed with the 
selected bidder at the time of contract signing.  
 

5 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT  

 

19.2 The selected bidder shall not 
have the right to terminate the 
contract or to demand any 
damages on account of termination 
of the Contract by the Bank.  
 

We would like to reserve the right to terminate the contract 
and edit the clause 19.2 “The selected bidder shall not have 
the right to terminate the contract.”  
The modification to clause can be discussed with the 
selected bidder at the time of contract signing.  

This is not accepted. However, 
following clause is being added to 
item number 19.2. 
“However, in case of breach by the 
Bank of any material term of the 
contract, the selected bidder may 
terminate the contract if the said 
breach is not rectified within a period 
of one month from the date of 
communication by bidder informing 
the said breach to the Bank” 
 
 

6 SCOPE OF WORK   

 

3.2  
III. Pricing optimization for SME and 
retail portfolio  
iii. Conduct pilot and prepare for roll 
out  
 

For each element where it is suggested that a pilot be 
conducted, we request you to please elaborate on the scope 
of the pilot (e.g. no. of branches, regions to be covered)  
 

The pilot will be designed by the 
selected bidder in consultation with 
the Bank. 



 

3.2 IV. Cost optimization including 
physical footprint, network & 
physical technology assets costs, 
overheads & others  
vi. Implementation support  

We request you to provide details on the kind of 
implementation support needed. Will this be limited to the 
pilot or end to end implementation across all branches/ 
offices of the bank?  
 

“Implementation support” would 
include “conduct pilot and prepare for 
roll-out”. However, details will be 
decided by the selected bidder in 
consultation with the Bank. 

 
3.2. IV Key deliverables – Cost 
optimization 

We understand that overall org. restructuring for cost 
optimization is not envisaged as part of the RfP scope. 
However, to the extent that it impacts centralization of 
activities from branches, org. changes will be included? 

Yes, the understanding is correct. 
However, centralization of activities 
and any other specific changes that 
may be required cannot be entirely 
ruled out. 

 
3.2. IV Key deliverables – Cost 
optimization 

“Implementation support” can be read as “conduct pilot and 
prepare for roll-out” similar to the detailing given in other 
modules (Portfolio strategy, CA acquisition, and pricing)? 

Yes 

 

4. Bank, at its sole discretion 
reserves the right to ask the 
consultant to continue for further 
period on related scope 
enhancements beyond the scope 
mentioned in this RFP at a cost not 
exceeding pro-rata per month cost 
as quoted for the earlier job, on the 
same terms and conditions.  
 

We request you to elaborate on what is the likely period of 
extension, What will be the size of the team expected during 
the extension period.  
 

The extension period and the size of 
the team for the extension will be 
conveyed in due course, if and only if 
the Bank intends to extend the project 
beyond the timelines mentioned in the 
RFP. 

 

Annex D (V). Transfer of 
Knowledge  
This will include implementation 
plan for transfer of knowledge 
relating to suggested strategies / 
changes to the target users across 
the organization. Implementation 
Plan should be scalable across the 
Bank, leading to sustainable and 
permanent gains in profitability and 

We request you to clarify whether the response be limited to 
communication, knowledge transfer or also include broader 
change management and capability building measures.  
 

The transfer of knowledge should 
enable the Bank to execute the 
implementation of the identified 
initiatives without the assistance of 
the selected consultant in due course 
after the required hand holding period 
and post the completion of the project. 
This would also include providing 
detailed documentation inter-alia 
covering job-cards, SOP etc. This 



balance sheet optimization, with 
required hand-holding period and 
detailed documentation.  

would also involve conducting of pilots 
and scaling up thereafter if necessary. 

 3.1 (1) 
Does it involve credit as well as market / investment 
portfolio? 

The RFP is for optimization of balance 
sheet. The bidders have to provide 
portfolio strategy which provides long 
term value to the Bank. 

 3.1 (1) Does it also include real estate portfolio? As above. 

 3.1 (3) 
Point 3: Pricing optimising includes cost of acquisition or 
loan pricing of SME and retail 
portfolio 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 (4) 
What is the expectations of the bank for cost optimisation i.e 
all the line items in 
the P&L or top 5 line items in the P&L 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 (4) 
What is the approximate expected percentage of cost 
optimisation the bank is 
expecting 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage. 

 3.1 (5) 

Given the large size of data analysis required, does the bank 
have any existing 
system / platforms / statistical softwares which can be 
leveraged for running the 
optimization techniques 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  



 3.1 (5) 

For optimizing the long term capital allocation through the 
cycle, will the bank 
benchmark it with IRB capital or standardize approach 
capital 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage. However 
whatever is the regulatory 
environment at the material time 
needs to be taken into consideration 

 3.2 (I) (i) 
Do we have to benchmark all the portfolios or the bank or 
select portfolio 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.2 (I) (i) Does peer bank imply banks in India or outside India 
Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.2 (I) (iii) 

How many years of performance data (exposure, return, 
defaults, nature of 
customers, geographic spread) is available within the bank 
for high yield products 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.2 (I) (v) The bank expects the analytical model in which IT platform 
The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.2 (II) (iv) 
How many years of behavioral data is available to conduct 
behavioral analysis of maturity mismatched 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.2 (IV) 
Does the bank follow unit level costing i.e is overhead 
allocation is done on actual 
basis to branches and products or based on assumptions 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  



 3.2 (V) (i) The bank expects the tool in which IT platform 
The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.2 (V) (iii) Does cost here implies cost of fund 
Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 
We have access to external benchmarking data. Does SBI 
envisage a be‐spoke benchmarking, if yes then how many 
banks are envisaged to be benchmarked? 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 

What financial planning, budgeting & forecasting tools are 
currently deployed? Is the planning done following bottom‐
up or top‐down approach? How many business 
units are involved? 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1  
What analytical tools are deployed by the bank to assess 
dimensional profitability 
currently? 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1 
Current account acquisition and ALM strategy ‐ What are the 
ALM tools deployed currently? 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1 Is branches rationalization also part of the scope? 
This is not envisaged. However 
please be guided by 3.2. IV. i. 



 3.1 Which functions are currently centralized by the Bank? 
The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1 
Is there a laid down mechanism to measure cost of 
developing and maintaining an 
IT system in the Bank 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1 
Are there policies defined for allocation of technology costs, 
and overheads to each 
business unit 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  

 3.1 

Identify opportunities for overall infrastructure cost reduction 
– Does the 
infrastructure refer to entire IT infrastructure of Bank or is 
limited to infrastructure at 
Branches? 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 
Baseline current IT spend by category and payback period – 
What are the different 
categories expected to baseline? 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 3.1 
For implementation support, what is the quantum of travel 
which the bank envisages 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage. 

 3.1 
Will the project need to delivered from Mumbai HO 
 

The Bank would not like to comment 
on the same at this stage.  



 3.1 Does this exercise include group entities also This is not envisaged 

 3.1 Does this exercise include foreign branches also This is not envisaged 

 
Bid Details - last date for bid 
submission 

We request for one week extension on submission timeline 
This is not accepted 
 

 
3.1.1 -Portfolio Strategy and long- 
term growth opportunities for the 
Bank 

We would consider 5 years as the bechmark for long term 
strategy formulation. Plz clarify   

The Bank would not like to comment 
on this. 

 
3.1.1 -Portfolio Strategy and long- 
term growth opportunities for the 
Bank 

Please clarify if pricing optimization exercise is for asset or 
liability or both are included in the exercise  

Pricing optimization includes the asset 
side primarily, however the total 
customer profitability would also be an 
important criterion for pricing 
optimization. 
 

 
3.2.IV - Identify opportunities for 
overall infrastructure cost reduction 

Please advise what all kind of infrastructure need to 
considered (Branches, IT, Contact Centre,CPC's etc) 

Please be guided by the objective of 
the RFP. 

 

13.1 The selected bidder would be 
required to submit a Bank 
Guarantee to the Bank for an 
amount equivalent to 10% of the 
Total Project Cost within 10 days 
from the selection of the successful 

We propose to bring down the BG amount to 5 percent of 
the total project cost and 1 month time instead of 10 days for 
submission 

This is not accepted 
 



bidder. The BG will be valid for 
period of 12 months and such other 
extended period as the Bank may 
decide for due fulfillment of the 
project obligations. 

 
21. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 

Can we propose an alternate such as “the Liquidated 
damages will be applicable only the delay is solely 
attributable to the Consultant / Bidder” 

This is not accepted 
 

 

32.11 SBI reserves the right to re-
negotiate the prices in the event of 
changes in the market conditions 
and/or technology etc 

We understand that renegotiation will be mutually discussed 
and decided 

Yes 
 

 
EXHIBIT - IV: TECHNICAL 
EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Please let us know what is the weightage on each of the 5 
areas.  

The Bank would not like to comment 
on this.  
 

 
17.NO WAIVER OF BANK’S 
RIGHTS OR SUCCESSFUL 
BIDDER’S LIAB 

Can we propose an alternate such as “Notwithstanding 
anything contained in the contract, Client agrees that the 
Vendor/ Bidder / Consultant shall not be liable to Client, for 
any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, cost or expenses 
(“Losses”) of any nature whatsoever, for an aggregate 
amount in excess of the fee paid under the contract for the 
services provided under the contract, except where such 
Losses are finally judicially determined to have arisen 
primarily from fraud or bad faith of the Vendor/ Bidder / 
Consultant. In no event shall the Vendor/ Bidder / 
Consultant, be liable for any consequential (including loss of 
profit and loss of data), special, indirect, incidental, punitive, 
or exemplary loss, damage, or expense relating to the 
services provided pursuant to this Contract.” 

This is not accepted 
 



 

15.4 The liability of the consultants 
to indemnify the Bank including 
those by / against third party claims 
as per this clause shall be unlimited 
and without any cap or condition. 

Can we propose an alternate such as “Notwithstanding 
anything contained in the contract, Client agrees that the 
Vendor/ Bidder / Consultant shall not be liable to Client, for 
any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, cost or expenses 
(“Losses”) of any nature whatsoever, for an aggregate 
amount in excess of the fee paid under the contract for the 
services provided under the contract, except where such 
Losses are finally judicially determined to have arisen 
primarily from fraud or bad faith of the Vendor/ Bidder / 
Consultant. In no event shall the Vendor/ Bidder / 
Consultant, be liable for any consequential (including loss of 
profit and loss of data), special, indirect, incidental, punitive, 
or exemplary loss, damage, or expense relating to the 
services provided pursuant to this Contract.” 

This is not accepted 
 

 

15.2 The consultant shall, at their 
own expenses, defend and 
indemnify & keep indemnified the 
Bank against all third party claims 
or infringement of IPR, including 
Patent, trademark, copyright, trade 
secret or industrial design rights 
arising from use of the products or 
any part thereof in India or abroad. 
In case of violation/ infringement of 
patent/ trademark/ copyright/ trade 
secret or industrial design, the 
consultant shall immediately take 
appropriate steps for averting such 
violation/infringement. 

Can we propose an alternate such as "The client shall 
indemnify and hold harmless the Deloitte Entities, 
Subcontractors and DTTL for all Losses arising in 
connection with any third party Claim in relation to or 
pursuant to the Contract or the Services, except to the 
extent finally judicially determined to have resulted primarily 
from the fraud of such Deloitte Entities, Subcontractors and 
DTTL." 
 

This is not accepted 
 

 

Conflicting Relationships : A 
consultant (including its Personnel 
and Sub-Consultants) that has a 
material business or close family 
relationship with a member of SBI’s 
staff who is directly or indirectly 

Is it correct to assume that the clause is restricted to the 
consultants involved in drafting the response and 
consultants deployed in the delivery of the engagement? 

Yes. Please be guided by the 
definition of “consultant” as given in 
5.5 of RFP. 
 
 



involved in any part of (i) the 
preparation of the Terms of 
Reference of the Assignment/job, 
(ii) the selection process for such 
Assignment/job, or (iii) supervision 
of the Contract, shall not be 
awarded a Contract, unless the 
conflict stemming from this 
relationship has been resolved in a 
manner acceptable to SBI 
throughout the selection process 
and the execution of the Contract. 
The respondent to RFP is expected 
to provide complete details of SBI 
staff associated with the consultant 
in any manner whatsoever. In case 
the information is Nil, explicit 
mention should be made in this 
regard. 

 general clauses 
we will mutually discuss & agree the legal clauses if we get 
selected in due selection process 

There is no scope of discussion in the 
legal clauses. By participation in the 
RFP, the consultant acknowledges 
that they are agreeable to the stated 
legal clauses in the RFP 
 
 

 


